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Located at the summit of Burlington's hillside neighborhood overlooking the 
Green Mountains to the east and Lake Champlain to the west, the structures of the 
Redstone Historic District stretch around the outer perimeter of a broad U-shaped 
green. Now serving as the University of Vermont's Redstone Campus, the five 
academic buildings and three residence halls include the Richardsonian 
Romanesque and Shingle Style buildings of the original Buell Estate and the 20th 
century university buildings which range in style from the Colonial Revival 
buildings of the early women's campus to the more recent International and 
Brutalist Style buildings of the 1960s and 70s. The buildings of the original estate 
and the early 20th century women's campus dominate the landscape as focal 
points around the green. The sympathetic siting of the three later non-contributing 
building has not upset the historic integrity of the district. Both the character and 
feeling of the original estate's landscape remains.

Rising from the hill in the district's northeast corner are the city's old brick 
water tower (#4) built in 1880-81 and the taller, elevated steel tank (#3) built to 
replace it in the mid-thirties. From the hilltop where its four largest buildings are 
sited, the district's open, gradually sloping terrain extends westward to a low, 
redstone wall bordering South Prospect Street and is landscaped with scattered 
clumps of planted trees and overgrown shrubs. This remarkable open space, 
created as the core of a fashionable late 19th century estate, continues to retain its 
integrity as one of the few remaining large, formally landscaped spaces in the 
area.

The Redstone Historic District is located in the northwest corner of the former 
Buell Estate, which originally included sixty-six acres of gently sloping land 
between South Prospect and Spear Streets. To its south and east, the district is 
bordered by the field house and the three large dormitories that comprise the 
University's later additions to the Buell property, and to its north and west it is 
bordered by a residential section of Burlington. The district is dominated by the 
buildings at the crest of the hill along its eastern boundary, the oldest of which is 
the Richardsonian Romanesque Redstone Hall (#5), which served as the Buell 
family's residence from 1889 until the University purchased the property in 1921 
and converted the house into a residence hall. Directly south of Redstone Hall is 
the Colonial Revival style Southwick Memorial Hall (#7) constructed in the 
mid-thirties to serve as a center for the activities of the University's female students. 
Abutting the former women's union building to the south is the angled wing of the 
three-story-high, brick-veneered Coolidge Hall (#8) built after the Second World 
War, and extending out from the rear portion of Southwick's north side is the 
concrete and glass Music Building (#6) constructed in the mid-seventies. Down the 
hill and slightly north of these buildings is the International Style Blundell House 
(#2) completed for the University in 1961 and the Richardsonian Romanesque 
gatehouse (#1) constructed as part of the original Buell Estate in 1890. Across the
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lawn and directly south of Blundell House is the Buell Estate's Shingle Style 
stable-now Robinson Hall (#9)--which was converted into a women's dormitory in 
the 1920s and administrative offices in the early 1980s. Facing South Prospect 
Street and located southwest of Robinson Hall is the Colonial Revival style Slade 
Hall (#10), built by the University in the late twenties as a first step in expanding the 
women's campus. Until at least 1960, four other buildings dating back to the Buell 
Estate also stood within the district's boundaries, including a wood-shingled 
toolhouse and a greenhouse directly east of Robinson Hall, a single-story cottage 
to the north of Redstone Hall, and a wood-shingled ice house that was located 
between Redstone Hall and the city's water towers to the northeast.

The gently sloping, predominantly open terrain surrounded by the district's 
buildings has been periodically landscaped with planted trees and shrubs since 
1889. Evidence of the district's original landscaping exists throughout the grounds, 
though the trees and shrubs planted under the Buells' direction have long since 
matured or become overgrown. Two small groves of white pines intermixed with 
northern white cedars remain standing on the slope behind the Music Building and 
a much larger grove of white pines in the district's northeast corner now shades a 
sugar maple understory that extends westward to South Prospect Street. Three 
overgrown clumps of trees and shrubs-one of which covers a small rock ledge- 
are located where the Buell Estate's gravel driveways originally curved through the 
front lawn and include lilacs, hawthorns, honeysuckles, northern white cedars, 
black locusts, and red spruce. Small stands of Norway spruce separate both 
Redstone Lodge and Robinson Hall from the stone wall which runs along South 
Prospect Street. This mortared random-coursed redstone wall, constructed 
contemporaneously with the Buell Estate buildings, forms a formal edge to the 
original estate grounds along South Prospect Street. The wall has two openings 
for the paved driveway which starts from South Prospect Street at the south 
entrance located near Robinson Hall, loops east to Southwick Memorial Hall and 
Redstone Hall, and continues west to the north entrance at South Prospect Street 
near Redstone Lodge. At the southern end of the redstone wall, a single row of 
northern white cedars extends south to the southwestern corner of the district. A 
similar row of cedars located between the redstone walls extending east from 
Robinson Hall may also date back to the Buell Estate.

Since acquiring the property in 1921, the University has combined segments 
of the original estate's two gravel drives into a single, paved drive, added the small 
access road which forms the district's southern boundary, and planted scattered 
rows of catalpas, hawthorns, and silver, sugar and Norway maples. Located within 
this setting are the following buildings and structures:
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1. Bedstone Lodge, c. 1891.

The 2-story, Richardsonian Romanesque style gatehouse is nearly 
rectangular in plan with an octagonal stair tower slightly offset from the center of the 
front (south) facade. Its random-coursed, rock-faced ashlar walls are battered at 
the base and primarily fenestrated with recessed 6/2 windows, whose segmentally- 
arched openings are spanned by splayed stone arches with flat extradoses. Like 
the original estate's main house (#5), the joints between the wall's redstone blocks 
were originally pointed with a matching, tinted mortar and finished with black 
mortar with incised red lines. The dwelling's steeply-pitched, asphalt-shingled 
gable roof has slightly overhanging eaves with exposed rafter tails and is 
interrupted in front (south) by a small wall dormer to the right of the tower and in 
back (north) by a large, central gabled section.

The lodge's front tower is irregularly fenestrated with narrow 1/1 windows 
with stone lintels on all levels below an octagonal cap that rises to a level even with 
the main block's roof ridge and is connected to the roof by a small gable. The roof 
to the left of the tower contains a glazed eyebrow dormer and extends forward to 
cover a 2 x 1 bay redstone porch, whose shouldered, half-piers rest on a battered 
parapet and screen the front entrance and window bays, both of which are 
spanned by stone lintels. The roof of the 1-bay section to the right of the tower 
extends down to the sill line of the tower's second story windows and is broken by 
a wall dormer with a steeply pitched gable roof.

The lodge's two side elevations are both shouldered out where 
they meet the roof's lateral eaves and contain interior chimneys that 
rise through the peak of the gables. The west elevation is irregularly fenestrated 
with a 6/2 window in the gable and two 6/2 first floor windows below and to the left 
of it. The facade is also fenestrated with 3-light basement windows on its left side 
and the large entrance porch opening on its right side. The 2-bay east elevation is 
evenly fenestrated with 6/2 windows on both floors and 3-light windows at ground 
level.

The lodge's rear (north) elevation is composed of a 2-bay, central gabled 
section with an entrance porch to its left and an unfenestrated wall to its right. Like 
the east elevation, the central section has an interior chimney and is evenly 
fenestrated with windows on three levels-the second floor windows being above 
the main roof's lateral eaves. The 1-bay porch to the left of this section has a shed 
roof supported by chamfered posts connected by a balustrade and screens an 
entrance with 4/1 windows on either side of it.

The lodge was designed by the Buffalo, N.Y., architecture firm of Marling and 
Burdett in c. 1891 and constructed on or directly adjacent to the site of a wood 
frame building that is shown on an 1890 map of Burlington. The house was built 
for use as the gardener's cottage and has served as a residence for the University
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since the Buell estate was purchased in 1921. Other than the placement of 
screens on the entrance porch and the replacement of the roof's original wood 
shingles with asphalt ones sometime after the University bought the property, the 
lodge's exterior has undergone relatively little change.

2. Blundell House, 1960-61 [non-contributing].

The International Style structure to the northeast of Redstone Lodge (#1) 
was designed by the Burlington architecture firm Freeman-French Freeman in 
1960 for use as a home management laboratory for seniors in the University's 
Home Economics Program and was officially dedicated on December 9,1961. The 
flat-roofed, single-story structure is composed of two rectangular sections bridged 
by a narrow entrance bay. The house's walls are covered with vertical boards 
above its concrete foundation and fenestrated with large, single-paned, rectangular 
windows of varying size, most of which are grouped in horizontal bands. A small, 
rectangular shed is connected to the back of the house's western section by the flat 
roof and cement foundation. The house is currently (1987) occupied by the Center 
for Cultural Pluralism.

3. Elevated High Service Water Tank, 1934-35.

The elevated high service water tank was erected for the city by the 
Pittsburgh DeMoines Company to supply proper service for the University of 
Vermont's larger buildings and provide a sufficient amount of water to meet the 
demand of people living outside the city limits. The 150,000 gallon, cylindrical, 
steel-plated tank is approximately 37 feet in diameter with a conical roof and a 
semi-spherical bottom that is connected to the ground by a tube approximately 7 
feet in diameter. The light green, painted tank is elevated 90 feet above the 
ground--63 feet higher than the old high service tank (#4)--and held in place by 
four slightly canted steel legs joined to the tank just below a walkway surrounding 
the base of its cylindrical, central section. The legs are connected at their 
midpoints by horizontal steel bands and further stabilized with crisscrossing steel 
rods above and below the bands on all sides.

4. High Service Water Tower, 1880-81, 1890-91.

The old high service water tower is approximately 35 feet in diameter and 45 
feet in height with a 10 x 16 foot, single-story, gable-roofed addition on its west
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side. The tower's hollow, common bond brick walls are pointed with scored mortar 
highlighted by white paint and rest on a rubblework foundation constructed from 
171 cubic yards of stone removed from the trenches dug for the new water pipes. 
On its south side is a boarded-up, segmentally-arched doorway with a granite sill 
and step, and halfway up its north side is a small, 2-light, segmentally-arched 
window. Its 16-sided polygonal roof is covered by red slate shingles with bands of 
fishscale shaped green and red slates decorating the central portion and a copper 
finial at its peak.

The west entrance building was added sometime before 1932. Its brick 
veneer walls rise from a concrete foundation up to a slate-shingled gable roof with 
cornice returns. The addition contains large, boarded-up, openings spanned by 
flat arches on its north and south facades and a doorway with a flat arch on its 
gable end.

The water tower was constructed in 1880-81 to protect the new 106,000 
gallon high service tank located on land purchased by the city from F. J. Hendee 
and supplied with water pumped up to it from the reservoir on Main Street across 
from University Place. When completed in 1881, the boiler plate tank erected by B. 
S. Nichols and Co. measured 30 feet in diameter and 20 feet in height and 
supplied water to approximately 200 residents, the University of Vermont, and the 
newly constructed Mary Fletcher Hospital. In 1890, the water tower's roof and brick 
wall were raised to accommodate the addition of an extra twelve feet to the tank's 
height and an extra 63,617 gallons to its capacity the following year. With the 
erection of the elevated high service water tank in 1934-35, the old tank was 
repaired and maintained for use during maintenance to the new tank and 
emergencies.

5. Bedstone Hall, 1888-89, 1921-22, 1974.

The Richardsonian Romanesque style Redstone Hall is rectangular in plan 
with a large central tower on its front (west) facade. The 2-story structure's random- 
coursed, rock-faced ashlar walls are constructed of redstone blocks originally 
pointed with a matching, tinted mortar and finished with black mortar with incised 
red lines. The redstone walls are battered from the granite foundation up to the first 
floor sill line and rise up to a steeply-pitched, wood-shingled hip roof that has 
slightly flared eaves with exposed rafter tails and is broken up by dormers on three 
slopes and three high, narrow, asymmetrically placed chimneys.

The residence hall's front elevation is dominated by the round central tower 
with a conical cap whose copper peak rises above the main roofs ridgeline. The 
main entrance, to the tower's right, is recessed behind a large, round arch with 
blackened redstone voussoirs and a tooled soffit. The 2-panel, single-light, oak
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doorway is bordered by large, single-paned sidelights and set in a wall composed 
of small blocks of regularly coursed stones. On the second floor to the right of the 
entrance is an oriel window with a central 8/2 window and two 4/1 windows. The 
hip-roofed dormers in the roof above are fenestrated with small, 8/2 windows that 
match the tower's 3 top floor windows and are doubled in the dormer on its left and 
tripled in the central section of the dormer on its right, which has been extended to 
either side by a continuous metal shed roof. The walls below the roof are 
irregularly fenestrated with 3 and 4-pane windows at ground level, 4/1 and 1/1 
windows on the first floor, 6/1 and 4/1 windows on the second, and curved 1/1 
windows in the tower's main floors. With the exception of the segmentally-arched 
ground level openings to the left of the tower, all of the deeply recessed windows 
rest on blackened redstone sills and are spanned by similarly treated stone lintels. 
A terrace stretches across the right half of the facade and is enclosed by a battered 
redstone parapet that bows out on its front right corner.

Redstone Hall's south facade is screened by a 2 x 1 bay, 2-story, enclosed 
porch with a low-pitched, metal hip roof. The four large, round first floor arches are 
glazed with central 4/4 windows with fixed sash windows on either side. The floor 
above is divided into three bays on its long side and one bay on each of its short 
sides by paired pilasters and is glazed with 8-pane casements, most of which are 
folding.

The hall's rear facade is composed of a central tower, a window-less fire- 
stair tower to the left, and a 2 x 1 bay, hip-roofed ell to the right. The central tower is 
fenestrated with curved 1/1 windows, three of which are grouped together on the 
second floor with a central, semicircular light above forming a Palladian motif. The 
wall to the left of the tower is fenestrated with three 1/1 windows on the second floor 
and a larger 1/1 window on the first. To the right of the tower, the wall is irregularly 
fenestrated with 6/1 and 4/1 windows and the ell to the far right is regularly 
fenestrated with 6/1 windows. The hip-roofed dormers in the ell and the central 
tower are fenestrated with 8/2 windows, as are the grouped windows in the shed- 
roofed dormers to either side of the tower.

Redstone Hall's north facade is irregularly fenestrated with 3-light windows 
on the ground level, 6/1 windows on the first floor, and 6/1 and 4/1 windows on the 
second. An entrance with a wooden, 2-panel, single-light door is located on the left 
half of the facade and screened by a single-story, hip-roofed porch with half-length 
wooden posts with beaded edges that rest on a battered parapet and are tripled at 
the corners. In the roof above are two 8/2 dormer windows that are capped by 
overhanging, rounded hoods.

Although the interior of the building has been significantly altered for its 
continued use as a women's dormitory after the University purchased the Buell 
Estate in 1921, portions of the first and second floor retain many of their original 
features. The building's large, front entrance hall is panelled in oak with
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elaborately carved oak benches on either side of the main entrance, a flat-arched 
brick fireplace opening crowned by a stone lintel in its east wall to the right of a 
large oak staircase, and exposed oak beams hanging down from its plaster ceiling. 
The U-shaped dining room in the front tower is similarly finished with oak paneling, 
exposed ceiling beams, and a fireplace in its east wall. On the second floor, the 
southwest corner bedroom still retains its original oak paneled fireplace with green 
tiles.

Bedstone Hall was originally designed as a residence for Andrew A. Buell 
by Herbert C. Burdett of the Buffalo, N. Y., architecture firm of Marling and Burdett. 
The Buell family occupied the house and the surrounding sixty-six acre estate from 
the time of its completion in 1889 until its sale to the University of Vermont in July of 
1921. Upon acquisition of the property, the University engaged Louis Sheldon 
Newton of Hartford, Vermont, to draw up plans for the conversion of the house and 
the stable (Robinson Hall, #9) into women's dormitories. The construction of 
Newton's alterations was completed by the spring of 1923 and included the 
addition of the second floor sleeping porch above the original loggia on the 
house's south side, the shed-roofed dormers on the southern half of the front (west) 
and back roof slopes, and the two dormers on the rear tower's roof. Newton's 
alterations to the interior included the addition of one single and ten double 
occupancy rooms to the attic story, a large toilet room in the north side of the 
second floor where the servant's hall had been, two triple occupancy rooms on the 
NW corner of the first floor where the kitchen had been, and a large bathroom and 
laundry in the basement. No other large-scale alterations to the structure occurred 
until 1974, when Burlington architect Colin P. Lindberg was hired to design a fire 
tower and partition some of the rooms. At the same time, the building's exterior 
walls were patched and repointed and the roof's asphalt shingles were replaced 
with red cedar shingles which more closely approximate its original treatment, 
though the rows of sawtooth shingles along the eavesline were omitted.

6. University of Vermont Music Building, 1973-75 [non-contributing].

The irregularly shaped, poured concrete and glass Music Building is located 
behind Redstone Hall (#5) and connected to Southwick Hall (#7) by a single-story, 
9-bay, glass and concrete walkway that runs along the older building's north 
facade. The 2-story, flat-roofed structure's west elevation adjacent to the walkway 
is composed of a primarily glass-walled entrance section to the left of which are two 
concrete sections which are stepped progressively forward and contain large, 
single-paned windows of varying size. The building's north elevation is composed 
of a recessed, concrete, central section containing a large service entrance and 
bordered to the left by an unfenestrated, wood-sheathed section and to the right by



United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

Section number 7 Page 8

a concrete section with a small, 1-story, shed-roofed projection on its left half. The 
Music Building's rear elevation faces east and consists of an S-shaped, 12-bay, 
glass and concrete section stretching between Southwick Hall on the left and a 
canted, wood-sided section on the right, whose three small, slightly projecting, 
rectangular bays contain recessed and canted windows that provide light for the 
performance hall. The building was designed for the University of Vermont by 
Burlington Associates/Architects and Planners, Inc. in 1973 and completed in 1975.

7. Mabel Louise Southwick Memorial Hall, 1934-36.

The T-plan, Colonial Revival style Southwick Hall located directly south of 
Redstone Hall (#5) is abutted on its left (north) side by the Music Building (#6) and 
on its right (south) side by Coolidge Hall (#8). The building's 2-story, English bond, 
brick walls rise from a granite foundation and are encircled below their first floor 
windows by a granite and marble beltcourse. Its walls are regularly fenestrated 
with sunken 8/8 and 4-light windows with splayed brick arches at ground level, 
semicircular-arched, multi-light windows with marble keystones on the first floor, 
and 12/12 windows with splayed marble lintels on the second floor. Rectangular, 
marble spandrel panels are located between the first and second floor windows 
and rectangular, granite panels are located below the wood corner pilasters that 
frame the walls and support a denticulated entablature. The building's 
perpendicular, slate-shingled, hip roofs have closely cropped eaves and are 
crowned at their intersection by a 3-tiered, gold-domed cupola - embellished with 
urn finials, pilasters, and swags.

The primary (west) facade of Southwick Hall's 9x3 bay front block is 
screened by a shallow, recessed portico with eight evenly spaced, boxed posts 
dividing the bays between the corner pilasters. The posts rest on marble plinths 
and are elaborated with single, raised fretwork triangles above their bases and 
below their capitals and fretwork diamonds in the middle of each face. 
Trapezoidal, electric lamps are attached to the posts framing the three central 
entrance bays, which are composed of 3-light, paneled, wooden double doors 
capped by semicircular fan lights with applied metal muntins. The entrance bays 
are picked out further by the wide, granite stairway leading up to them and the 2- 
tiered, wooden parapet resting on the entablature directly above.

Abutting Southwick Hall's forward block on the south is a single story 
extension of Coolidge Hall and extending back from its east side is the building's 2- 
story, 6-bay rear block. Running the length of the rear section's north facade is a 
single-story passageway connecting Southwick Hall to the Music Building and 
extending back from its east facade is a slightly wider, single-story, 3-bay block 
fenestrated on its exposed south facade with 8/8 windows capped by splayed
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marble lintels. The building's rear section is completed by a shallow, single-story, 
block with a central entranceway which has been converted into a window opening 
on its east facade. The single-story sections behind the rear block are crowned by 
a wooden balustrade and integrated into Southwick Hall's overall design by the 
granite and marble beltcourse which encircles them along with the rest of the 
building.

Southwick Hall was the second building designed for the Bedstone Campus 
by the architecture firm of McKim, Mead and White. The building was constructed 
during the depression with funds from the Works Progress Administration and the 
estate of John Leonard Southwick, a former editor of the Burlington Free Press 
whose deceased daughter, Mabel Louise Southwick, had graduated from the 
University in 1905. The hall was originally designed to serve as the women's 
student union building and contained a 2-story, 500 seat lower recreation hall and 
gymnasium with a 35 foot proscenium arch screening a 29 x 54 foot stage at its 
east end. The building also housed a 440 seat upper hall and living space for its 
director on the second floor, meeting rooms on the first floor, and locker rooms next 
to the gymnasium on the basement level Both the upper and lower auditorium 
were approached from the first floor foyer by either ascending or descending the 
central, two-tiered, horseshoe-shaped, Isle La Motte marble staircase with brass 
railings. Although Southwick Hall's first and second floors appear to be relatively 
unchanged since their construction in the mid-thirties, the locker rooms on the 
basement level were renovated for use by the University's mail service and the 
lower auditorium was divided into two single-story rooms by a concrete slab floor to 
accommodate the University's telecommunication services in 1984.

8. Grace Goodhue Coolidge Hall, 1946-47 [non-contributing].

The 3-story residence hall located directly south of Southwick Hall (#7) is 
composed of a 5-bay central block flanked by two 5-bay wings canted at 45 degree 
angles to the middle section. The flat-roofed dormitory's brick-veneered walls rise 
from a poured concrete foundation and are evenly fenestrated with 1/1 windows, 
some of which are spanned by marble plinths. The slightly projecting central block 
is framed by painted brick pilasters and crowned by a wooden cornice with a brick 
parapet above and painted brick entablature area below, which extends across the 
top of the two flanking wings. The building's central section is further set off by a 
single-story, 3-bay entrance porch whose flat roof is supported by paired wooden 
posts. The 93 unit residence hall was the largest of four dormitories designed by 
William B. Mylchreest in 1946 and completed in 1947 as part of the last project 
undertaken for the University by the architecture firm of McKim, Mead and White.
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9. Robinson Hall, 1888-89, 1921-22, 1982.

Robinson Hall is located across the lawn from the gatehouse (#1), and like 
the other two remaining buildings from the original Buell Estate-Redstone Lodge 
and Redstone Hall (#5)--is constructed of random-coursed redstone. The 2-story, 
building is L-shaped in plan with its eastern section covered by a gable roof with 
slightly flared eaves and its longer western section covered by a hip roof with a 
slightly lower ridgeline and full-length shed dormers on both slopes. Below 
Robinson Hall's slate-shingled roof, the gables are sheathed with unevenly 
spaced, sawtooth, wooden shingles and the dormer walls are covered with 
similarly spaced, plain, wooden shingles. Two large, round towers with conical 
caps frame the building's westernmost wall and a smaller tower rises from the 
inside corner formed by the intersection of the building's eastern and western 
sections.

Robinson Hall's primary elevation faces north and is composed of the 
slightly projecting gabled section to the right of which the building extends 
westward to one of the corner towers. The gable wall forming the eastern portion of 
the elevation is composed of a redstone first story with a large, multi-light, 
semicircular-arched opening framed by 3/3 windows that are spanned by splayed 
stone arches. The slightly overhanging, wood-shingled gable forming the second 
story is supported by evenly spaced stone corbels and is fenestrated with three 8/8 
windows along the eaves line and a Palladian motif vent (originally a window) in 
the peak area above. The gabled eastern section is entered through an 18-light 
doorway with full-length sidelights and a semicircular fanlight located in its western 
wall to the left of the interior, corner tower. The entrance is sheltered by a hip- 
roofed hood which extends from the tower out to the wall's edge where it is 
supported by an open, triangular bracket. Directly above the hood is a shed 
dormer with a 6/6 window.

The 2-story, interior, corner tower dividing the eastern and western sections 
of the building is fenestrated with a single 6/4 window on the first floor and three 
small 6/6 windows located directly below the flared eaves of the conical roof on the 
second floor. To the right of the tower, the redstone first story is fenestrated with 
pairs of 3/3 windows spanned by splayed stone arches to either side of a large, 
multi-light, segmentally-arched opening. Between the western-most 3/3 window 
and the corner tower to the right is a narrow, 4/4 window and an 18-light doorway. 
The wall openings between the two towers are separated in places by the four 
large, evenly-spaced, triangular brackets which support the overhanging eaves of 
the hip roof above, whose slope is interrupted by a full-length shed dormer, 
fenestrated with one 6/6 window and three 8/8 windows.

Robinson Hall's west elevation is framed by two large, redstone, corner
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towers which are both fenestrated with three large 8/8 windows spanned by 
splayed stone arches on the first floor and three smaller 8/8 windows located 
directly below the eaves of the roof on the second. The wall between the towers is 
fenestrated with a single 8/8 window spanned by splayed stone arches on the first 
floor and three 10/10 windows located directly below the eaves on the second. In 
the center of the roof slope above is a shed dormer containing a vent.

The building's rear (south) elevation is composed of a redstone first story 
with a full-length, wood-shingled, shed dormer with five 8/8 windows forming the 
second story between the corner tower to the west and the wood-shingled gable to 
the east. A 15-light door with a rectangular transom above and a 2/2 window to the 
side is located to the right of the corner tower and sheltered by a hip-roofed hood 
supported by large, open, triangular brackets on either side. To the right of the 
entrance bay, the wall is fenestrated with two 6/6 windows that are separated from 
three smaller 3/3 windows by a large, multi-light, segmentally-arched opening with 
a splayed stones above and a tinted concrete sill below. The first floor wall below 
the gable-which mirrors the front facade's gable in composition and detail-is 
fenestrated with paired 6/6 windows to either side of a large, multi-light opening 
with a splayed stone arch above and a granite sill below.

Robinson Hall's east facade is fenestrated with a line of eight small, evenly 
spaced, 9-light windows which is broken by a paired 8/8 window with a splayed 
stone arch and tinted concrete sill that separates the southernmost window to its 
left from the seven windows to its right. Directly above the roof's lateral eaves is a 
long shed dormer which is unevenly fenestrated with five 8/8 windows and 
crowned by a stone chimney located at its midpoint. Running along the base of the 
east facade's wall are unevenly spaced, splayed stone arches which would have 
originally spanned basement level openings.

The building was originally designed to serve as the Buell Estate's stable by 
the Buffalo, N. Y., architecture firm of Marling and Burdett and completed in 1889. 
After the estate was sold to the University of Vermont in 1921, the stable was 
converted into a women's dormitory by Louis S. Newton with funds left to the 
University by Wallace F. Robinson. Newton's substantial alterations to the building 
included the renovation of the first floor into a reception room, dining room, lounge, 
kitchen, and laundry and the second floor into eight single rooms, eleven double 
rooms, and a matron's room. Renovations to the building also included the 
addition of shed dormers on each roof slope, the replacement of the roofs wooden 
shingles with slates, and the removal of the two gable dormers on the roof's east 
slope from which Newton retained the Palladian window surrounds to frame the 
existing vents in the north and south gable peaks. The building served as a 
dormitory until 1982, when it was renovated by Parallax, Inc. Architects of 
Hinesburg, Vermont to house the University's Office of Residential Life.
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10. Slade Hall, 1928.

The 2 1/2 story, Colonial Revival dormitory is rectangular in plan with 
English bond brick walls that rise from a granite foundation up to a slate-shingled 
gambrel roof with slightly flared eaves. The building's walls are horizontally 
divided on each face by brick belt courses which mark the base of each floor and 
terminate before they reach the corners. Slade Hall's front facade faces the street 
to the west and is composed of a central entrance bay flanked by three bays to 
either side containing 12/12 windows with splayed marble lintels with keystones, 
marble sills, and painted aluminum shutters. The entrance is composed of an 8- 
panel, wooden door that is framed by three-quarter-length, leaded sidelights and 
spanned by a wooden lintel elaborated with a triglyph-motif pattern, above which is 
a wooden sunburst. Screening the doorway are two Doric columns which rest on 
the granite porch floor and support a pedimented roof with mutulary cornices and a 
semicircular ceiling. A 12/12 window matching those to either side is located 
between the porch roof and the corbelled brick below the lateral eaves. The roof 
slope above the eaves is broken by seven evenly-spaced, pedimented dormers 
with 8/12 windows between their slate cheeks.

The dormitory's 3-bay, side elevations are both fenestrated on their first 
floors with three 12/12 windows and on their second and third floors with 12/12 
windows to either side of central doorways which exit out onto metal fire escapes. 
Both the flat-arched, second floor doorways and the semicircular-arched, third floor 
doorways are faced with marble.

Slade Hall's rear (east) elevation is fenestrated similarly to the front 
elevation with the exception of the central entrance bay. The doorway is framed by 
pilasters to either side and sheltered by a flat-roofed hood supported by two large 
consoles. Directly above the entrance and between the first and second floors is a 
large, semi-circular-arched, multi-light window with marble surrounds and a scroll 
keystone, the lower half of which is screened by an iron rail. Above the window is a 
marble tablet inscribed with the building's date of construction written in Roman 
numerals.

Slade Hall was the first dormitory built specifically for women at the 
University and the first new addition to the land purchased from the Buells in 1921. 
The twenty-five room dormitory which officially opened in 1929 was constructed 
with money given by Mrs. William Gery Slade of New York in memory of her 
daughter, Mrs. Harriet Slade Crombie and was the second of nine buildings 
designed for the University by the architecture firm of McKim, Mead and White.
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The Redstone Historic District is significant for its Richardsonian 
Romanesque, Shingle Style, and Colonial Revival Style buildings and the large, 
landscaped lawn around which they are sited. The district is located in the 
northwest corner of a sixty-six acre gentlemen's estate established by lumber 
magnate Andrew A. Buell in 1889 and purchased by the University of Vermont in 
1921. The University's acquisition of the property both provided an outlet for 
expansion during the twenties and thirties and preserved the land's open character 
at a time when the city's other large estates were being subdivided. Although three 
of the district's buildings have been constructed since that time, their siting around 
the lawn's perimeter has maintained its integrity as one of the few remaining large, 
formally landscaped open spaces in Burlington.

Andrew A. Buell (1841-1916) amassed his fortune as head of the Ottawa 
based Hull Lumber Company and through his associations with the Ottawa 
Transportation Company and the Export Lumber Company of New York. His 
position in the two Canadian companies undoubtedly included business dealings 
in Burlington and probably led to his move there from Buffalo sometime in 1888. 
Burlington had figured prominently in the lumber export trade since 1857, when 
Lawrence Barnes built the first planing mill on the lakefront to dress shipments of 
Canadian lumber before they were transported by rail to various places in New 
England. By 1868, the city had become the third largest lumber depot in the nation, 
ranking behind only Chicago and Albany. During the peak year of 1873, 
approximately 170 million feet of lumber valued at $2,046,585 passed through 
Burlington, providing employment for 760 people. Buell's arrival in Burlington 
coincided with the tail end of a renewal in the industry following the depression 
years of the 1870s, when production and income had dropped off dramatically from 
the record levels of 1873. Throughout the 1880s, imports of Canadian lumber 
remained above the 100 million foot mark before peaking at 135 million board feet 
valued at $1,586,369 in 1890. The following year, however, imports again fell 
below 100 million board feet, marking the beginning of a final, twenty-five year 
decline in the city's lumber industry that was assured in 1897 by the removal of 
lumber from the free list with the enactment of the Dingley Tariff. Despite its 
severity, the industry's downturn does not appear to have significantly effected 
Buell, whose fortune was apparently secure by this time. Buell continued his 
association with the Hull Lumber Company until his retirement around 1904, after 
which he devoted his full attention to his duties as the vice president of the Horatio 
Hickock Company, a manufacturer of packing boxes and cloth boards with offices 
near the waterfront.

Buell located his gentlemen's farm on sixty-six acres of land recently opened 
for development by the construction of the city's high service water tower (#4) in 
1880-81. The estate on South Prospect Street was one of ten thousand 
gentlemen's estates of ten or more acres which Town and Country editor William
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Frederick Dix counted east of the Mississippi at the turn of the century. In the 
Burlington area, the Buell Estate would have ranked only behind Dr. William 
Seward Webb's Shelburne Farms-viewed as the model estate in the nation for a 
fifteen year period between 1890 and 1905-and transportation magnate LeGrand 
B. Cannon's estate, "Overlake," just across the street.

Forming the heart of BuelFs estate and distinguishing it from its neighbors 
were the Richardsonian influenced residence (#5), gatehouse (#1), and stable 
(#9), which aside from H. H. Richardson's Billings Library (1883-86; See University 
Green Historic District, 14 April 1975) remain the best examples of that style of 
architecture in the area. The buildings, constructed of large blocks of redstone from 
the local Willard Quarry, were designed for Buell between 1888 and 1891 by 
Herbert C. Burdett, a partner in the Buffalo, N. Y., architecture firm of Marling and 
Burdett. Burdett was born in Boston in 1855 and educated at Harvard before 
receiving his early architectural training with the firm of Hartwell and Richardson. 
From there he went on to work for a number of years in the offices of H. H. 
Richardson before moving to Buffalo in 1887, where he entered into a partnership 
with James H. Marling that continued until his death in April of 1891. During his 
short tenure with Marling, Burdett worked on designs for a number of private and 
public buildings, including the Church of the Good Shepherd and the Saturn Club-­ 
both in Buffalo-and the house of the Calumet Club in Detroit.

Burdett's buildings still comprised the core of the estate when it was 
purchased from Buell's daughter Marge and her husband Marshall C. Twitchell by 
the University of Vermont in July of 1921. The new Redstone Campus became the 
center for women's activities at the University soon after its acquisition and the 
renovation of the house and stable for use as dormitories. As the site of the new 
women's campus, the former Buell estate provided an important outlet for the 
University's growth during Guy W. Bailey's tenure as President from 1920 to 1940. 
In the two decades of Bailey's presidency, faculty size tripled and student 
enrollment more than doubled, from 1,133 for the academic year 1919-20 to 2,337 
for 1939-40. The growth in enrollment was matched by a corresponding expansion 
of the physical plant under Bailey, as the University spent approximately 
$3,000,000 for the renovation of its existing buildings and the construction of seven 
new buildings during the twenties and thirties.

Under the direction of Bailey, the University began its twenty year 
association with the New York architecture firm of McKim, Mead, and White. The 
two decade partnership resulted in the addition of nine buildings to the campus, 
including Ira Alien Chapel (1927), the Robert Hull Fleming Museum (1931), and the 
Charles Winfield and Anne R. Waterman Building (1940-41), all of which were 
designed in the Colonial Revival style favored by the firm for its collegiate 
architecture (See University Green Historic District entered in the National Register 
of Historic Places April 14, 1975). McKim, Mead and White's contributions to the
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Bedstone Campus during this period included Slade Hall (#10), the first women's 
dormitory constructed by the University, and Southwick Hall (#7), whose 
construction was made possible by the completion of the city's new elevated high 
service water tank (#3) in 1935. The death of Bailey in 1940 and the completion of 
the Waterman Building the following year signalled the end of an era of building 
and expansion at the University. McKim, Mead and White designed only four more 
buildings for the University after Bailey's death, all of which were dormitories and 
none of which approached the firm's earlier work on the campus in execution and 
style.

Despite the University's continued growth and the subsequent construction 
of three new building's within the district's boundaries after 1940, the original 
layout of the historic Redstone Campus has remained intact. The open lawn 
around which the district's buildings are located has been an integral part of the 
site's landscaping since the Buell Estate was laid out around 1890. The 
University's acquisition of the property in 1921 resulted in the preservation of the 
land's open character during a period when the city's other large estates-including 
the sixty acre Cannon Estate directly across the street-were being subdivided. 
Since that time, the siting of University buildings around the lawn's perimeter has 
contributed to both the preservation of the district's integrity and the maintenance 
one of Burlington's few large, formally landscaped open spaces, along with the 
University of Vermont Green, Battery Park, and City Hall Park (See University 
Green Historic District and City Hall Park Historic District, entered in the National 
Register of Historic Places on June 9,1983).



United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

Section number 9 Page 1 Bibiographical References

Alien, Charles E. About Burlington Vermont. Burlington, Vt.: Hobart J. Shanley and 
Company, 1905.

Amrhein, Joseph. "Burlington, Vermont, The Economic History of a Northern New 
England City." Ph.D. diss. New York University, 1958.

Auld, Joseph. Picturesque Burlington: A Handbook of Burlington. Vermont and 
Lake Champlain. Burlington, Vt.: Free Press Association, 1893.

The Ariel. 1924. Published by the Junior class of the University of Vermont.
Rutland, Vt.: The Tuttle Company, 1923. Wilbur Collection, Bailey-Howe 
Library, University of Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Buffalo Architecture: A Guide. Cambridge, Mass, and London, England: The MIT 
Press, 1981.

Burdett, Herbert C. Obituary. The American Architect and Building News 18 Apr. 
1891:34.

The Burlington Book: Architecture. History. Future. Ed. Historic Preservation 
Program, Department of History, University of Vermont. Burlington, Vt.: 
University of Vermont Historic Preservation Program, 1980.

Burlington City Directory. Burlington, Vt.: Free Press Association, 1865-1889/90. 
Wilbur Collection, UVM.

___. Burlington, Vt.: L P. Waite and Co., 1890-1915. 

___. Springfield, Mass.: H. A. Manning Co., 1916-.

City of Burlington. Fifteenth Annual Report of the City of Burlington. Vermont for the 
Year Ending Dec. 31. 1879. Burlington, Vt., 1880. Wilbur Collection, UVM.

___. Sixteenth Annual Report. 1881. 

___. Seventeenth Annual Report. 1882. 

___. Nineteenth Annual Report. 1884. 

___. Twenty-sixth Annual Report. 1891.



United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

Section number 9 Page 2 Bibiographical References

___. Twenty-seventh Annual Report. 1892. 

___. Sixty-sixth Annual Report. 1931. 

___. Seventieth Annual Report. 1935.

"Cannon, LeGrand B." Reference File. Wilbur Collection, UVM.

Delp, Joanne. "Buell Estate: The Late Victorian Age." Student Paper for Art 282, 
University of Vermont, 1984. Wilbur Collection, UVM.

"Fire Insurance Maps of Burlington, Vt." Pelham, N.Y.: Sanborn Map Company, 
Inc., 1926/38, 1942/60, 1978. Wilbur Collection, UVM.

"Four New Dormitories Are Dedicated." Vermont Alumni News. Jan 1948: 41+.

Gibson, Sandra J. "Redstone Campus: From Estate to Residential Campus." 
Student Paper for HP 201, University of Vermont, 1980. Architectural 
Conservation and Education Service, University of Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Gove, William G. "Burlington-the Former Lumber Capital." The Northern Logger 
and Timber Processor. May 1971, 18-19+.

Hitchcock, Henry-Russell. The Architecture of H. H. Richardson and His Times. 
Revised Edition. Hamden, Conn.: Archon Books, 1961.

Land Records Office. Drawers 27-29. University of Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Lipke, William C., ed. Shelburne Farms: The History of an Agricultural Estate. 
Burlington, Vt.: University of Vermont, 1979.

Luginbuhl, Viola L. "The Richardsonian Influence at Redstone," Student Paper, 
University of Vermont, 1962. Wilbur Collection, UVM.

"Map of the City of Burlington, Vermont: From official Records, Private plans and 
Actual Surveys." Philadelphia: G. M. Hopkins,1890. Wilbur Collection, 
UVM.

McKim, Mead and White. Recent Buildings Designed for Educational Institutions. 
New York: The Beck Engraving Company, 1936.



United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

Section number 9 Page 3 Bibiographical References

___. Recent Work by the Present Partners of McKim. Mead and White. 
Architects. New York: The Beck Engraving Company, 1952.

Twitchell, M. Coleman. Family Papers, 1860-1980. Wilbur Collection, UVM. 

Vermont Alumni Weekly (listed chronologically).

___. "Redstone, U.V.M. Building, Offered For Use As Summer White House." 14 
May 1924:437.

___. "Slade Hall Opened." 25 July 1929: 504. 

___. "Women's Student Union Building." Feb. 1934: 183 84+.

_. "Southwick Memorial Building Opens Doors." 11 Nov. 1936: 64. 

_. "Southwick is Formally Opened." Mar. 1937: 243+.

Vermont Cynic (listed chronologically).

___. "University Acquires Former Buell Estate." 1 Oct. 1921:7.

___. "Blundell House To Be Dedicated." 7 Dec. 1961:9.

Vermont Division for Historic Preservation. Vermont Historic Sites and Structures 
Survey: Burlington. Montpelier: Vermont Division for Historic Preservation, 
1978.

Withey, Henry F. and Elsie R. Biographical Dictionary of American Architects. Los 
Angeles: New Age Publishing Co., 1956.



United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet

Section number 10 Page 1 Verbal Boundary Description

The Redstone Historic District begins at point A, located at the intersection of 
an easterly extension of a line following the remnants of a chain link fence 
corresponding to the northern property line of the original Andrew A. Buell Estate 
and a northerly extension of the property line dividing city land from University land 
directly west of the high service water tower. The boundary thence proceeds in a 
southerly direction along said line to point B, where it intersects the property line 
dividing city land from University land directly north of the High Service Water 
Tower (#4). Thence the boundary proceeds in an easterly direction along said line 
to point C, where it intersects the northerly extension of a line parallel to and 150 
feet east of the easternmost wall of Mabel Louise Southwick Memorial Hall (#7). 
The boundary thence proceeds in a southerly direction along said line to point D, 
located at the western edge of a paved path. Thence the boundary proceeds in a 
southwesterly direction along said paved path and parking lots on the east and 
southeast side of Mabel Louise Southwick Memorial Hall (#7) and Grace Goodhue 
Coolidge Hall (#8) to point E, located at the easterly extension of a line following a 
low redstone wall along the southern edge of a parking lot to south and east of 
Robinson Hall (#9). The boundary thence proceeds in a westerly direction along 
said line to point F, where it intersects a line following the western edge of an 
access road running between Slade Hall (#10) and the Patterson-Wright-Christie 
dormitory complex. Thence the boundary proceeds in a southwesterly direction 
along said line to point G, where it intersects a line following the eastern edge of 
South Prospect Street. The boundary thence proceeds in a northerly direction 
along said line to point H, where it intersects the westerly extension of a line 
following the remnants of a chain link fence corresponding to the northern property 
line of the original Buell Estate. Thence the boundary proceeds in an easterly 
direction along said line to point A.
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The Redstone Historic District encompasses the historic core of both 
lumber magnate Andrew A. Buell's sixty-six acre gentlemen's estate and the 
University of Vermont's Redstone Campus, which was developed around the 
estate's primary buildings during Guy W. Bailey's twenty year tenure as 
President of the University. To its south and east, the district is bordered by the 
campus lands surrounding the field house and the three large dormitories that 
comprise the University's later additions to the Buell property. To its north and 
west, the district is bordered by a residential section of Burlington. The 
boundary is sufficient to convey the significance of the property and to protect its 
integrity.
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This information is the same for all photographs:
Bedstone Historic District
Burlington, Vermont
Photograph by Thomas D. Visser
Negative filed at Vermont Division for Historic Preservation

Photograph 1
Description: Buildings #5, #7, #8. View looking Southeast
Date: November 1986

Photograph 2
Description: Buildings #4 and #5. View looking East

Photograph from M. Coleman Twitchell Family Papers, 1860-1980, 
Wilbur Collection, Bailey-Howe Library, University of Vermont, 
Burlington, Vt.

Date: c. 1900

Photograph 3
Description: Building #1. View looking West

Photograph from M. Coleman Twitchell Family Papers, 1860-1980,
Wilbur Collection, Bailey-Howe Library, University of Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Date: c. 1900

Photograph 4
Description: Buildings #1, #5, #7, #9, #10. View looking East

Artist's Rendering 
Date: c. 1937

Photograph 5
Description: Buildings #3, #5, #7, #8, #9. View looking East
Date: November 1986

Photograph 6
Description: Buildings #9 and #10. View looking South
Date: January 1987

Photograph 7
Description: Buildings #5 and #7. View looking East
Date: January 1987
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Photograph 8
Description: Buildings #8, #7, #6. View looking Northwest
Date: November 1986

Photograph 9
Description: #1. Redstone Lodge. View looking Northwest
Date: January 1987

Photograph 10
Description: #2. Blundell House. View looking Northeast
Date: January 1987

Photograph 11
Description: #3. Elevated High Service Water Tower

& #4. High Service Water Tower. View looking Northwest 
Date: November 1986

Photograph 12
Description: #5. Redstone Hall. View looking Southeast
Date: November 1986

Photograph 13
Description: #7. Mabel Louise Southwick Memorial Hall. View looking East
Date: January 1987

Photograph 14
Description: #8. Grace Goodhue Coolidge Hall. View looking Southeast
Date: January 1987

Photograph 15
Description: #9. Robinson Hall. View looking Southeast
Date: November 1986

Photograph 16
Description: #9. Robinson Hall. View looking Southwest

Photograph from M. Coleman Twitchell Family Papers, 1860-1980, 
Wilbur Collection, Bailey-Howe Library, University of 
Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Date: c. 1900
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Photograph 17
Description: #9. Robinson Hall. View looking Southeast

Photograph from M. Coleman Twitchell Family Papers, 1860-1980, 
Wilbur Collection, Bailey-Howe Library, University of 
Vermont, Burlington, Vt.

Date:c. 1900

Photograph 18
Description: #10. Slade Hall. View looking East
Date: November 1986
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Buildings #1, #2, #5, #6, #7, #3, #9, #10

The University of Vermont 
Administration and Facilities Services 
109 South Prospect Street 
Burlington, Vermont 05405

Structures #3 and #4

City of Burlington 
Office of the City Clerk 
City Hall 
Burlington, Vermont 05401
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